
BOARD OF SELECTMEN
MEETING MINUTES

February 6, 2006
PRESENT:
Mark Kaplan, Chair, Board of Selectmen
Douglas W. Lyon, Selectman
Ruth I. Clough, Selectman
Jessie Levine, Town Administrator
OTHERS PRESENT:
Bob and DJ Lavoie, New London residents
Peter Stanley, Zoning Administrator
Donald F. Bent, PhD, Health Officer
Debbie Cross, Intertown Record
Carolyn Dube, Argus Champion
Chair Kaplan called the meeting to order at 8:05 AM.

Meeting Minutes: Ms. Clough moved to approve the minutes of January 28 and 30, 2006. Second Mr.
Lyon and approved 3-0.  Ms. Clough asked if there had been any word from the Department of
Transportation on the low winter maintenance application, and Ms. Levine said that there had not been a
decision.  However, the DOT indicated that they would change the speed limit on Newport Road during
the week of February 13, 2006.

Citizen’s Advisory Committee: Chair Kaplan said he had been asked by Hugh Chapin to make a
presentation to the Citizen’s Advisory Committee regarding the Council on Aging’s need for volunteer
drivers, particularly in outlying towns.  Ms. Levine suggested the meeting after Town Meeting, since the
next meeting would be dedicated to discussion the warrant.  The Board of Selectmen moved the
February 28 meeting to March 4, at which time the Selectmen will present the warrant and zoning
changes.  The Selectmen set the following dates for CAC meetings: April 1 (Chair Kaplan will invite
COA); April 29, June 3, July 29, and September 30.

Elected Officers: Ms. Levine gave the Board of Selectmen the list of residents who have signed up to run
for the elected positions.  They are:

Selectman (for 3 Years)
Mark Kaplan

Trustee of Trust Funds (for 3 Years)
William C. Horn
Donald F. McGuinness

Tracy Memorial Library Trustee
Ben Acard
Charles E. Dean
Elizabeth A. Meller

Budget Committee Member (for 3 Years)
Connie Appel
Douglas S. Baxter
Jack Diemar

Budget Committee Member (for 1 Year)
Noel Weinstein

Sewer Commissioner (for 3 Years)
Robert P. Lavoie

Cemetery Commissioner (for 3 Years)
Thomas A. Ginter
Donald F. McGuinness

Town Clerk (for 3 Years)
Linda M. Hardy

Town Moderator (for 2 Years)
Cotton Cleveland

Town Treasurer (for 3 Years)
Stephen R. Theroux

Supervisor of the Checklist (for 6 Years)
Arlene Marshall



Selectmen’s Meeting Minutes
February 6, 2006
Page 2 of 5

Quackenbos/Perkins Request for Referral to ZBA: Peter Stanley, Zoning Administrator, joined the Board
of Selectmen to talk about the request from Bo Quackenbos and Pam Perkins regarding their parcel on
Bunker Road.  Mr. Stanley said that the parcel has a mapped stream requiring a 100-foot buffer, so the
owners would have to go to the Zoning Board of Adjustment for a special exception to reduce the buffer
for a house site.  Additionally, the parcel contains a leach field from another property that is there by
easement, and there is little area for a second leach field, which would have to be located 75’ from a
wetland that is also on the property (unrelated to the mapped stream). The owners would need a variance
to place a leach field closer than 75 feet to the wetland.  Ms. Levine said typically property owners would
apply for a building permit and if it did not meet zoning requirements, it would be denied by the
Selectmen and referred to the ZBA for a variance.  In this case, the owners do not want to invest in plans
for a building permit until they know if the ZBA would grant a variance; therefore, they are asking the
Selectmen for a referral directly to the ZBA (owners can approach the ZBA directly for a special
exception but not for a variance).

Mr. Lyon asked if the health officer was included in the process for septic approvals.  Mr. Stanley said
that he is, but he usually reviews applications for conformance to state regulations and not local zoning
regulations.  The Town’s regulations for septic setbacks are more stringent than state regulations.  Mr.
Stanley said he has looked at the site and thinks that this is a prudent course to follow rather than
investing in a design for the property.

Mr. Lyon asked if the size of the septic system could be impacted by the size of the house.  Mr. Stanley
said that in this case the issue is the location of the leach field in relation to the wetland. Ms. Clough
asked if there were any objection to sending this to the ZBA, and Mr. Stanley said there is no reason not
to and the property owners would be best served in this manner.

Mr. Lyon moved to refer Bo Quackenbos and Pam Perkins to the ZBA for a variance.  Seconded Ms.
Clough and approved 3-0. Bob Lavoie asked if the ZBA could ask them to limit the size of the leach field.
Ms. Levine said the ZBA could require certain design considerations.

Budget: Ms. Levine referred to the handout for Wednesday’s budget hearing.  Mr. Lyon said the
operating portion of the budget reflects at 11% increase, and the increase is equally distributed among
general government, public safety, highways and streets, and sanitation, while the remaining increases are
relatively minor.  Chair Kaplan asked why the assessing budgeted increased from $22,500 to $77,500.
Ms. Levine said the 2005 budget included $30,000 out of the revaluation capital reserve fund, so the
increase is from $52,500 to $77,500.  Also removed from the budget is the annual deposit of $15,000 into
the revaluation capital reserve fund, since the new assessing department will replace the previous
assessing practice.  She said that these costs were analyzed when the joint assessing project was
approved; although the annual operating cost might look higher, the Town will spend less in legal and
expert witness fees, refunded taxes, and revaluations, and will be able to improve accuracy and customer
service.

Bob Lavoie asked if there were any areas of the budget that reflected cost-saving measures.  Ms. Levine
said that in addition to assessing, costs went down in recreation, since program costs were shifted to the
revolving fund, and principal payments went down since the Goose Hole sewer/Tracy Library bond was
paid off.  Ms. Levine said that as the town grows and costs increase, she does not expect to see much
reduction in the future, with the exception of a possible transition to pay-as-you-throw for trash removal.
Mr. Lyon said he was very surprised by the analysis that every new home brings an average one ton of
trash per year.  Ms. Clough said it would be useful to compare population growth to budget growth.  Mr.
Lyon agreed and added that inflation (and the cost of salaries and benefits) would also have to be
considered in such a comparison.



Selectmen’s Meeting Minutes
February 6, 2006
Page 3 of 5

Mosquito Control: At 9:00 AM, the Selectmen were joined by Health Officer Don Bent. Dr. Bent said he
was up to 2:00 this morning preparing for this meeting, and in the light of day wonders why he’s here; he
said as a health officer promoting public health, he feels sort of like a missionary in a country of heathens.
He said it is late in terms of the budget process to be having this meeting, but he received word from the
State Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) only two weeks ago, even though he has been
asking for information to serve as a basis for decision-making regarding mosquito control.  Two weeks
ago he was referred to “Public Health Confronts the Mosquito,” which summarizes recommendations
from of the Mosquito Control Collaborative, a project of the Association of State and Territorial Health
Officials (ASTHO) in partnership with the National Association of County and City Health Officials and
supported by the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.  He said this publication was used by
DHHS to prepare the state’s  “Arbovirus Illness Surveillance, Prevention and Response Plan,” which
gives recommendations to towns for what they should be doing.  Based on this information, Dr. Bent
categorized New London as a remote risk for West Nile Virus and a low risk for Eastern Equine
Encephalitis (EEE) (the risks are defined on a scale of 1-5: 1 (Remote); 2 (Low); 3 (Moderate); 4 (High);
and 5 (Critical)).  Since Andover had three pools of mosquitoes with EEE and one bird that tested
positive, we are at a low risk.  Dr. Bent said he would like to respond according to the low risk
recommendations, since that would incorporate the response to remote risk.

Ms. Levine said she and Dr. Bent had met last Wednesday to review possible response plans and costs,
and as a result she had contacted John Callewaert of the Community and Environmental Sciences
program at Colby-Sawyer College.  Mr. Callewaert had expressed interest in providing a student intern to
work with Dr. Bent to map areas where mosquitoes breed and monitor mosquito populations.  Dr. Bent
said that since the meeting Wednesday, and given the short time frame to react this year, he would rather
spend the time working with a professional to apply larvicides the Town’s wet areas.  He said the
professional will need to apply for the application permit, which has to be done by someone with an
applicator’s license.

Mr. Lyon said the situation is different this time [from two years ago]; now we have specific state
recommendations for the control of mosquitoes.  There is a controversy over larviciding, and therefore we
should only do it if we have to.

Dr. Bent said that with time factors being what they are, it would be difficult to get students up to snuff.
The company – Municipal Pest Services – would collect and speciate the mosquitoes for $30,000, and we
could deduct the $4800 that was encumbered two years ago for mosquito control.  Ms. Clough said that
we should investigate all possibilities; she likes the idea of training students or volunteers to provide
assistance.  Ms. Levine said that Richard Lee had expressed interest in training to apply larvicides to
catch basins, but Dr. Bent said that he did not think there was time to go through training and receive
proper permitting this year.  Mr. Lavoie asked if the company’s costs could be reduced by using volunteer
help. Dr. Bent said he would be hesitant to have bits and pieces of the project done by volunteers, as he
does not think it would add to efficiency and effectiveness of the program.

Ms. Levine said the $4800 of encumbered funds was saved for surveillance, and she asked what portion
of the $30,000 quote covered surveillance.  Dr. Bent said it is all included with the quote.

Chair Kaplan asked what would happen if the entire town were surveyed and 10-12 spots were identified
for larviciding, and whether the treatment would have to be repeated or has a permanent effect.  Dr. Bent
said that it would have to be done again and again, but the experience of this year might dictate how to
respond in following years.  Mr. Lyon said the larvicide kills the larvae and does not leave residue so is
environmentally benign; therefore, it does not kill the larvae year after year.

Chair Kaplan said there were no dead birds or positive mosquito pools in New London, and asked how
close the danger is.  Dr. Bent said there were seven dead birds and two mosquito pools with EEE in



Selectmen’s Meeting Minutes
February 6, 2006
Page 4 of 5

Concord (and one human), and one dead bird and three mosquito pools in Andover.  Ms. Levine said that
Proctor might be developing a treatment plan, but the Town of Andover is not.  Chair Kaplan said before
applying larvicide, he would like to do a survey and examination to find out how many positive pools
there are before application.  Dr. Bent said if the team finds a positive pool they would likely apply the
larvicide immediately.  Mr. Lyon said the state recommends not applying larvicide unless there is a
positive test.

DJ Lavoie asked if there were 20 pools tested and only three were positive, whether they would treat all
20 pools or only the three.  Dr. Bent said his understanding is they would likely treat those pools that
contained the kinds of mosquitoes that might carry these diseases.  Ms. Lavoie asked if there is a
downside to larvicide, and Dr. Bent said that most of the negative aspects are associated with spraying.
The Conservation Commission shot down his last attempt to seek funding because they thought he
wanted to spray.  He said the state is considering legislation to provide emergency state funds for
larviciding or spraying.

Mr. Lyon suggested inviting the vendor to meet with the Selectmen to discuss this further.  Ms. Levine
said some figure needs to be brought to the Budget Committee on Wednesday night, if the Selectmen are
inclined to include the cost in the budget.  She said there is $9800 available to spend – $4800 encumbered
and $5000 held in a non-lapsing fund for emergencies.  She asked if there is a breakdown of costs related
to this project, and Dr. Bent said he would ask the vendor.

Dr. Bent asked if he should draft a petitioned warrant article.  Ms. Clough said he is not receiving a
negative reaction from the Selectmen, but the Selectmen simply want more detail to bring to the voters.
Mr. Lyon said now we have a specific state recommendation and the Board of Selectmen has a
responsibility to look at the recommendations and develop plans.  Voters can then make their choice.

Bob Lavoie asked if in the long run it made sense to have employees trained and certified.  Ms. Clough
said she is glad to hear that Richard Lee offered to.  Mr. Lyon said the real issue is that there are certain
times when it makes sense for certain people to be hired for specific projects.  He added that the nature of
the threat changed dramatically so someone would have to keep up with the changes on an ongoing basis.
He agreed, however, that is part of what we need to explore and it makes sense to train our own
personnel.

Ms. Levine asked what the deputy health officer’s opinion was, and Dr. Bent said her feelings were that it
is late to start this year and that we ought to spend the year educating the public and preparing for
treatment in another year.  He said that is fine except that the disease is around now and we are damned if
we do, damned if we don’t.  He said this is tough because if no one gets the disease, we won’t know if it
is because of our efforts but if we don’t do anything and someone gets sick, we may have been able to
prevent it.  Mr. Lyon agreed we don’t want to be sorry that we did not do something.  Chair Kaplan said it
will be good to meet with the vendor and get definitive information, and he thanked Dr. Bent for coming.
Dr. Bent said he would ask the vendor to meet with the Selectmen [note: this meeting has been scheduled
for February 27 at 9:00 AM].  He suggested the public information could start now, and handed the
reporters his packet of information.

Planning Board update: Ms. Clough said the Planning Board held its second public hearing on the zoning
amendments on February 1, and all amendments have now been approved to take to the voters on March
14.  She said there was a large audience on February 1 due to the changes that affect density where there
are wetlands and steep slopes. Ms. Clough said that Ken McWilliams is drafting the rationale to go with
the proposed amendments, and Ms. Levine said she will post the documents on the website when they are
available.  Ms. Clough said the next Planning Board meeting is February 14, and Ms. Levine said the
agenda includes a discussion with Jon Feins regarding his development in Sutton, which the Sutton
Planning Board has declared to be a regional impact.



Selectmen’s Meeting Minutes
February 6, 2006
Page 5 of 5

There being no further public business, Chair Kaplan moved to go into non-public for discussion of a real
estate matter pursuant to RSA 91-A:3 II (d) and to discuss personnel matters pursuant to RSA 91-A:3 II
(a).  Upon returning to public session, the Board of Selectmen voted to seal the minutes of the non-public
session.

Building Permits:

• NONE

Sign Permit Applications:

• NONE

Other Items for Signature:

• Disbursement and Payroll Voucher for the week of February 6, 2006 – Approved

• Application for use of the Sydney L. Crook Conference Room by ASLPT requesting a change from
June 8, 2006 to June 1, 2006 from 7:30 a.m. to 9:00 a.m. for monthly board meeting – Approved

• Contract for 2006 Household Hazardous Waste Grant Programs Fund – Approved

• 2006 Employee Flex Spending Contracts - Approved

There being no further business, the Board of Selectmen adjourned the meeting at 11:00 AM.
Respectfully submitted,

Jessie W. Levine
Town Administrator


